IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL GORDON REYNOLDS,) Appellant,) vs.) STATE OF FLORIDA,) Appellee.)

CASE NO. SC03-1919

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES B. GIBSON PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

JAMES R. WULCHAK CHIEF, APPELLATE DIVISION ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER Florida Bar No. 249238 112 Orange Avenue, Suite A Daytona Beach, Florida 32114

(386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

PRELIMINARY STATEMENT

In this brief, the symbol "R" will designate pages in the record on appeal, including transcript pages as renumbered sequentially by the clerk's office. Volumes will be referenced according to the sequential numbers assigned by the clerk's office for the entire record on appeal, and not by the concurrent numbering of the court reporters.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

The defendant was charged by indictment with three counts of first degree murder on June 23, 1998, of Danny Ray Privett, Robin Razor, and Christine Razor, as well as one count of burglary of a dwelling with a battery and with a weapon. (Vol. 1, R 31-33)

Prior to trial, the defense moved to permit victim impact presentation to the judge only. (Vol. 1, R 88-91) The defendant also moved to declare Florida's death penalty unconstitutional and to dismiss the indictment for a variety of reasons, including the failure to require a unanimous jury recommendation, the failure of jurors to make specific findings regarding their recommendation, and improper burden shifting. (Vol. I, R 92-97, 126-127, 133-134, 131-132; Vol. 2, 236-336, 359-376; Vol. 3, R 447-460, 470-472) All of these motions were denied by the trial court. (Vol. 3, R 377, 535-536)

Due to unsuccessful attempts to secure the attendance as a witness of an uncooperative Justin Pratt, who had also been a suspect initially in the case due to repeated arguments with the victims regarding past due rent money, the defense sought to introduce Pratt's sworn statement to police investigators as a statement against penal interests. (Vol. 18, R 2333-2362) The court found that Pratt was indeed an unavailable witness. (Vol. 18, R 2355) However, the trial court severely limited the portions of the statement that would be admissible to include only Pratt's admissions to leaving a threatening note on the victim's trailer shortly before their deaths and threatening the victims with a gun on prior occasions. (Vol. 18, R 2332-2399) The court refused defense requests to admit the entire statement, or, at least, to include Pratt's statements indicating knowledge of the manner of the victims' deaths, despite the fact that such information had not been made public by the police. (Vol. 18, R 2359-2360, 2377-2379, 2398-2399) The court also refused to allow the portion of Pratt's statement in which he tells where one victim, Danny Privett, would be outside if he were urinating, the exact location the deceased Privett was killed while in the process of urinating. (Vol. 18, R 2360, 2394) Moreover, the court excluded portions of the statement regarding Pratt's attempted alibi for part of the time frame during which the murders took place (that he was with his girlfriend, also a suspect in the case who also had problems with the victims' back rent), another portion of the statement dealing with Pratt's complaint about the money the victims owed him, and initial denials but then admissions of Pratt calling the victims' residence the night of the murders. (Vol. 18, R 2359, 2362, 2369-2377, 2380-2383, 2389-2395)

The trial court denied the defendant's motions for judgment of acquittal at

the end of the state's case and at the end of the evidence. (Vol. 18, R 2331-2332; Vol. 20, R 2732, 2761) The court denied defendant's request for a modification of the standard jury instruction to eliminate the section which states that the judge only is responsible for the sentence. (Vol. 21, R 2959) The jury found the defendant guilty of the lesser included offense of second degree murder for count 1, the death of Danny Ray Privett; guilty of first degree murder for counts 2 and 3, the deaths of Robin and Christine Razor; and guilty of burglary of a dwelling with a battery while armed, as charged in count 4. (Vol. 4, R 712-715)

The defendant affirmatively on the record waived the presentation of mitigating evidence to the jury and also sought to waive the jury's sentencing recommendation, seeking only to present evidence to the judge regarding the sentencing decision. (Vol. 25, R 3473, 3476-3499)¹ Even though the state was willing to accept this waiver of the jury's sentencing recommendation, the court refused, stating that it wanted to see their recommendation, and explained to the defense that if they had any "residual doubt" issues, that would only hold sway

¹ The defendant indicated that he knew how emotional the victims' family was and he did not desire to put them, or his family, through any more emotional turmoil, and felt that, with his record, sentencing was a foregone conclusion. (Vol. 25, R 3485-3487, 3495)

over the jury. (Vol. 25, R 3498-3499)²

The state, after presenting copies of convictions for three prior violent felonies, including an aggravated battery conviction in Hillsborough County, Florida, (Vol. 25, R 3512-3515) presented testimony, over defense objections, from the victim of that aggravated battery conviction as to details of an armed kidnapping and attempted sexual battery, charges for which the defendant was not convicted. (Vol. 25, R 3517-3532) Over defense objection, the state also presented victim impact testimony from the victims' family. (Vol. 25, R 3535-3540)

The jury, without hearing any mitigating evidence from the defense, recommended death sentences for each of the two first degree murder convictions by votes of 12-0. (Vol. 4, R 743-744; Vol. 25, R 3541, 3597)

The court held a *Spencer* hearing, during which the defendant made a presentation (continually claiming his innocence) and during which the defense introduced two depositions (one of the defendant's sister and one of an investigating officer speaking about another suspect, Justin Pratt) and the unredacted statement of Justin Pratt. (Vol. 5, R 748-830; Vol. 26, R 3606-3609) Mike Reynolds spoke to the court in his own behalf, continuing to proclaim his

² The trial court explained to the defense that it would only consider "statutory factors." ("I go strictly by statutory factors, and so that's the way it is.") (Vol. 25, R 3499)

innocence, and denouncing the authorities for their incessant mishandling of the evidence in this case. (Vol. 26, R 3610-3701) In its sentencing memorandum, the defense had argued against certain aggravating factors relied on by the state and also proposed twenty non-statutory mitigating circumstances. (Vol. 5, R 851-865)

The trial court imposed two death sentences. (Vol. 6, R 936-966) The court filed an original sentencing order and, later, two amended orders, finding as aggravating circumstances for both first degree murders: (b) previous convictions, including the contemporaneous convictions, of crimes involving violence (given great weight), (d) while engaged in a burglary (great weight), (e) to avoid a lawful arrest (great weight), and (h) heinous, atrocious, and cruel (great weight). (Vol. 6, R 940-945, 951-957) As to count 3, the court also found as an additional aggravator: (l) the victim was under twelve years of age (great weight). (Vol. 6, R 957-958)

As to mitigating factors (based on evidence presented at the *Spencer* hearing and in the pre-sentence investigation), the court found: the defendant was gainfully employed (little weight), he exhibited appropriate courtroom behavior (little weight), Reynolds cooperated with law enforcement (little weight), and he had a difficult childhood (little weight). (Vol. 6, R 946-950, 958-962) The court rejected as mitigation that the defendant could easily adjust to prison life, since Reynolds had been a member of gangs while previously in prison, and also rejected the notion of "residual doubt," ruling that that consideration was not permitted. (Vol. 6, R 947-948, 950-951, 960, 962-963) While citing to the unanimous jury recommendations, the court noted that it was not giving the recommendations great weight since the defendant had waived the presentation of mitigating evidence before the jury. (Vol. 6, R 951, 963) The court concluded that the aggravating factors outweighed the "minimal amount of mitigation that exists" and ruled that "the scales of life and death tilt to the side of death" as to each count. (Vol. 6, R 951, 963)

The court also sentenced the defendant to life imprisonment for count 1 (second degree murder) and life imprisonment for count 4 (burglary). (Vol. 6, R 871-875) The defendant's motion for a new trial was denied. (Vol. 4, R 746-747; Vol. 5, R 867-869, 870) Notice of appeal was timely filed. (Vol. 6, R 968) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Between 1:00 and 1:30 p.m. on July 22, 1998, Shirley Razor, the mother of victim Robin Razor, went to Danny Privett and Robin Razor's lot in Geneva, Florida, where the Privett family lived temporarily in a camper trailer while they worked on renovating two mobile home trailers for Shirley and their use. (Vol. 11, R 852-854, 856, 860) Upon her arrival, she spotted Privett lying in the yard next to a jug of moonshine. (Vol. 11, R 860-862) Accustomed to seeing Privett passed out on the ground from being drunk, she thought nothing unusual of it and ate lunch in one of the mobile home trailers. (Vol. 11, R 861-862) After finishing lunch, she returned outside, this time noticing that Privett had a "hole in his head," whereupon she ran to a neighbors to summon help. (Vol. 11, R 862-863) Upon returning to the scene, Shirley Razor looked into the windows of the camper trailer and saw her daughter and granddaughter, Christina Razor, dead inside. (Vol. 11, R 863-864)

Police discovered that Privett had been struck in the head by a bloody broken concrete block discovered nearby, apparently while he had been outside urinating on a tree in the yard (his pants were unbuttoned). (Vol. 11, R 872-875, 926-927) Cause of death was blunt force trauma to the head (possibly three blows), resulting in a skull fracture and hemorrhaging to the brain. (Vol. 12, R 1087-1088, 1100-1109) There were no signs of defensive wounds or a struggle. (Vol. 12, R 1102)

Inside the camper, police discovered Robin and Christina Razor dead, with Robin lying on the floor and Christina in a seated position on the couch. (Vol. 11, R 876-877, 926) Another piece of cinder block with blood on it was found on the couch. (Vol. 11, R 876) Robin suffered multiple stab wounds to her neck and one to her torso, and multiple blows to the head, resulting in a fractured skull and broken neck, which was fatal. (Vol. 12, R 1111-1125) She also received cuts to her arms and hands, which the medical examiner opined were "defensive wounds" (Vol. 12, R 1116, 1121-1124), and a glancing blow from a sharp object, perhaps the broken cinder block. (Vol. 12, R 1118-1119) While the cutting wounds would have been painful, after the head injury (which the doctor could not tell when it was delivered) Robin would have been unconscious. (Vol. 12, R 1124) Christina died of a knife wound that penetrated her sternum and lacerated the right pulmonary artery and also had contusions to her left eye and mouth. (Vol. 12, R 1126-1128) While the knife wound would have been painful, she would have lost consciousness quickly from the loss of blood. (Vol. 12, R 1128) The deaths were estimated to have occurred between 11:00 p.m. of July 21st and 7:00 a.m. of July 22nd. (Vol. 12, R 1139-1142) Although Christina was not wearing panties when her body was discovered (and the panties were found across the room underneath a blanket on which the other victim, Robin, was found), there was no indication of a sexual assault and no semen was found. (Vol. 11, R 942, 947; Vol. 12, R 1008; Vol. 15, R 1657, 1691-1692)

Various items of clothing and other household items (blanket, pillow, towel, switch plate, door frame, wood molding, and floor and rug cuttings) which appeared to have blood stains or shoe prints were collected. (Vol. 11, R 933-955) Curiously, even though the evidence technician noted the presence of possible blood on sixty-one other items collected, the evidence log made no mention of the possible blood stains on the blanket and panties, which were later testified to contain blood. (Vol. 12, R 1006-1010) A pillow was collected and bagged for evidence, with the notation of a pillow as contents. (Vol. 11, R 955, 998) However, when this item of bagged evidence was opened at the FDLE lab, it was discovered that a wet blue towel, not seen by the evidence technician at the scene, had been commingled in the same bag, potentially causing "transference" or "cross-contamination" of any stains or contents of the towel and pillow. (Vol. 11, R 955, 982-990, 993-998; Vol. 14, R 1473-1474, 1478-1480; Vol. 16, R 16841686)³

Police discovered that the older Privett daughter, Danielle, had spent the night at a friend's house. (Vol. 19, R 2412-2413) Police questioned her about anyone having argued with her family, and she reported that three people, Justin Pratt, his girlfriend, Nicole Edwards, and Alan Combs, had, in the past, threatened the family with guns, and had quite recently threatened the family due to past due rent money for the camper, and had driven past the Privett trailer and brandished guns and threatened to shoot the family just a day before the killings. (Vol. 19, R 2416-2423) Danielle was unaware of any current problems her parents were having with anyone else. (Vol. 19, R 2423, 2584-2585)

Justin Pratt, in a statement to investigators, admitted leaving a threatening note on the victims' trailer recently, because of wanting his past due rent money, in which he threatened "war" with "conventional weapons." (Vol. 19, R 2571-2578) Robin Razor paid some of the past due money to Pratt and Edwards, but Pratt and Edwards were still upset over the amount still due and continued to harass Privett and Razor. (Vol. 19, R 2579-2580)⁴

³ An FDLE lab technician indicated that "With Seminole County, it wasn't odd for us to get surprise items." (Vol. 14, R 1473-1474)

⁴ In his statement to police, Pratt also professed knowledge that Robin and Christina Razor had been stabbed, a fact not released by the authorities and, hence,

Despite this lead into these other suspects, police also began to question the defendant, Mike Reynolds, who lived on the same road as the victims, since he had appeared at a local hospital the morning after the killings with a lacerated little finger and a sprained ankle. (Vol. 12, R 1060-1061, 1064) Reynolds had told emergency room personnel and later the police, that he had fallen on his trailer steps (his landlady testifying that the steps were indeed dangerous) early that morning while taking his puppy out for a walk, and had caught himself by reaching for the door frame, which had a burr on it, cutting his finger. (Vol. 12, R 1062-1063, 1074-1079) Reynolds told police that he had returned to his trailer later and had broken off the offending burr, and an examination of the door frame confirmed that a small piece had, indeed, been recently removed, which piece was subsequently discovered in the shrubbery next to the trailer steps. (Vol. 12, R 1166, 1178-1179, 1182; Vol. 13, R 1206, 1263, 1288-1289, 1299-1300, 1313-1314, 1318-1319)

The defendant admitted that, approximately a month earlier, he had had a

a fact which would be known only by the perpetrator (Vol. 18, R 2359-2360, 2362, 2369-2383, 2389-2395, 2398-2399) and attempted to establish an alibi for the time frame of the killings, also unknown to anyone but the killer. However, the court excluded this evidence from the jury's consideration, finding that this portion of the statement of the unavailable Pratt was not a statement against penal interests, and hence not admissible. (*Id.*) Investigator John Parker, who interviewed Pratt, indicated in his deposition which was admitted at the *Spencer* hearing, that Pratt had failed a lie detector test when asked if he had killed Privett and the Razors. (Vol. 5, R 816)

dispute over a trailer frame, which his landlord had originally given him. (Vol. 13, R 1251-1254) When Reynolds had not moved the trailer frame from his landlord's property soon enough for his liking, the landlord, originally unbeknownst to the defendant, gave the trailer frame instead to Danny Privett. (Vol. 13, R 1251-1254) Reynolds, discovering the trailer frame on Privett's lot, got into an argument with him, but also and mainly with Alan Combs (who was visiting Privett at the time) over the frame. (Vol. 13, R 1251-1254) Later, having discovered that his landlord had indeed given the trailer frame to Privett, Reynolds returned to the Privett trailer and apologized to Danny for the argument, telling him the trailer frame was Privett's to keep. (Vol. 11, R 888; Vol. 13, R 1253-1254)⁵ As this issue had been resolved and Reynolds and Privett continued to socialize over horseshoe games at the Privett trailer, Danielle Razor, in informing the police about any known disputes between her family and others, did not even recount this incident, nor mention Mike Reynolds' name. (Vol. 13, R 1253-1254)

Despite the apparent motive of Pratt and Edwards, the police investigation began to focus solely on Reynolds, with the defendant voluntarily consenting to a police search of his trailer and car and the seizure of his clothing. (Vol. 12, R 1173;

⁵ This fact was confirmed by a neighbor and friend of the victims, Ernie Rash, who witnessed the argument and the defendant telling Privett he could keep the trailer. (Vol. 11, R 883-888)

Vol. 13, R 1285-1286) Nothing recovered from his trailer or car connected him to the killings, only Reynolds' blood being found on his clothing and car. (Vol. 17, R 2017-2020) Reynolds voluntarily provided hair and blood samples to police for their use in the investigation. (Vol. 12, R 1177-1178) Police did not submit any hair, blood, DNA, footware, fingerprints, palmprints, or any other samples of Pratt, Edwards, or Combs for forensic comparison. (Vol. 14, R 1514, 1548-1549, 1598-1599; Vol. 16, R 1851) The defendant's shoes did not match any of the footprints found inside the trailer and none of the unidentified footprints were ever compared to any other suspect. (Vol. 14, R 1593-1594, 1598)

Authorities from FDLE and the FBI were given only some of the samples and items collected from the victims' trailer and from the defendant for their comparison; a great many items including hairs and bloodstains, although collected because of their potential evidentiary value, were never submitted for testing. (Vol. 11, R 964; Vol. 12, R 1028; Vol. 19, R 2453-2508) Despite testimony and the defendant's statement that he had recently washed some clothes (which he pointed out to police hanging on the clothesline), the authorities did not submit for testing any lint or debris samples which evidence technicians had taken from the washing machine and plumbing in the hopes of finding debris or DNA from the victims. (Vol. 12, R 1306-1307; Vol. 19, 2459, 2462-2463) In a search for hair and fibers, debris was sweeped first from the defendant's clothing, then, in the same evidence collection room, from the items taken from the victims' trailer. (Vol. 14, R 1480, 1483-1486, 1489)⁶ A pubic hair, recovered in this fashion on the sweeping paper after a sweep of a pair of girl's panties recovered from the victims' trailer (and after previous sweeps of the defendant's clothing in the same collection room), was identified by a hair comparison expert as being consistent in some ways with a known sample of the defendant, but inconsistent in other aspects. (Vol. 14, R 1514-1515, 1542-1543) A DNA comparison expert opined that the pubic hair DNA matched the defendant's. (Vol. 16, R 1972) A second DNA sizer, however, who checks the first examiner's evaluation, noted the presence of a number eleven allele, which DNA marking would exclude the defendant, whose DNA did not include a number eleven allele. (Vol. 17, R 2178-2179) This discrepancy was attributed by the testifying expert, though, as having merely been caused by "artifacts" from the DNA sampling process. (Vol. 17, R 2180)

⁶ While the floor and table of the sweeping room were mopped with a cleaning solution and a new collection paper placed over the table, the FDLE expert testified that utilizing the same room to sweep first the defendant's items, then the victims' was a "no-no" because of possible cross-contamination. (Vol. 14, R 1483-1486) "Hopefully there was no contamination," she implored. (Vol. 14, R 1489) Hair comparison experts testified elsewhere at trial, however, as to the ubiquitous nature of hairs, that they can float in the air, and are simply present everywhere in nature. (Vol.14, R 1509-1511)

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