IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

MICHAEL GORDON REYNOLDS,  
Appellant,

v.

CASE NO. SC03-1919

STATE OF FLORIDA,  
Appellee.

---

ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT  
IN AND FOR SEMINOLE COUNTY, FLORIDA

ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE

CHARLES J. CRIST, JR  
ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS  
ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL  
Fla. Bar #410519  
444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL  
Daytona Beach, FL 32118  
(386) 238-4990  
Fax # (386) 226-0457  
Counsel for Appellee

**

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

Oklahoma even though there was an outstanding warrant for domestic violence (TT2350-2351).

The trial judge ruled Pratt was unavailable and that the defense made reasonable efforts to secure his presence (TT2355). The judge stated that the entire statement was not going to be admitted and that it should be pared down to the incident involving a threatening note (TT2365-66). Statements regarding payments on the trailer were also admissible (TT2366). The information regarding Privett being in the process of urinating was cumulative to police testimony (TT2366). The parties went through the statement page-by-page, and the trial judge determined the admissibility of each section (TT2367-70). The trial judge asked for corroborating circumstances (TT2373). Counsel was asked for research (TT2374-77). After reviewing the entire statement and taking a recess, defense counsel presented no research to the judge (TT2398).

The trial judge allowed pages 1 to 6. Defense counsel did not want page 7 to be admitted (TT2368). The parties disagreed about page 8 (TT2369-70). Defense counsel did not request pages 9, 10, or 11. He requested page 12 (TT2377). Counsel argued the statement that Privett cut Robin was not offered for the truth of the matter asserted (TT2378). When the trial judge said that "Debbie" should be the one to testify to certain facts, defense counsel stated: "Agreed." (TT2378). The parties

continued to the end of the statement, defense counsel posing objections to deleted parts (TT2379-85). Defense counsel agreed that pages 18, 19, 20, 21, 22, 27, 28, 29, 30, 31, 32, 33, 34, all except two lines on 35, 38, 39, 41, 42, 43, 44, 45, and 46 were not required (TT2380, 2393-96). The trial judge ruled that whether Pratt called the Razor trailer after the murders was inadmissible through Pratt's statement, but the question could be asked to Inv. Parker (TT2392).

Inv. Parker read the redacted statement into evidence (TT 2569-2580). The statement included that Privett made a deal to buy the camper from Pratt but was not paying (TT2573, 2575). Privett was paying about \$25.00 a week which was really ridiculous, so it was pretty much understood that when Pratt came back from Oklahoma he would take the trailer back and the money Privett paid would be considered rent (TT2574). Privett was supposed to pay \$150.00 per week and was "coming up with these measly little twenty-five a week." (TT2574). Pratt started complaining about the back payment, so Robin came by and left Pratt a note. Pratt went out to the Privett residence and left a note stating that there would be "war" with "conventional weapons." (T2576). Pratt denied being really upset with Privett (TT2576). Pratt admitted writing a "bunch of incriminating stuff" which made it look "like I was out to kill him or something" (TT2577). Pratt needed the money to straighten out

his driver's license situation (TT2578). He had already put up "For Sale" signs for the trailer (TT2578). He needed to get the trailer and fix it up to sell. It was worth about \$2000.00, but the way it was with the "hicks" living in it, made it worth about \$500.00 because they had goats and dogs in it (TT2579). Pratt was about to give Privett and Razor an ultimatum that they pay him \$110.00 by Friday. It was "sticky because we're good friends and here we got in this deal where they owe me money." (TT2579). Pratt had been complaining to mutual friends about the money but he didn't have the backbone to stand up to Privett because they were friends (TT2580).

**A. Statement not hearsay.** Although the trial judge found Pratt unavailable, he was available. As noted by the State in cross-examination, there is a procedure for securing the presence of witnesses that was not utilized. Being unavailable requires (1) a privilege; (2) refusal to testify; (3) memory loss; (4) mental or physical illness or (5) absence from the hearing, and the proponent of the statement has been "unable to procure the declarant's attendance by process or other reasonable means." §90.804(1). Given the circumstances, it was unreasonable to believe that Pratt, who lived in a van and hop-scotched around among states, would appear at the trial. See *Jones v. State*, 709 So. 2d 512 (Fla. 1998); *Pittman v. State*, 646 So. 2d 167 (Fla. 1994). The burden of demonstrating

unavailability of a witness rests on the party that seeks to use the missing witness's previous testimony. *Jackson v. State*, 575 So. 2d 181, 187 (Fla. 1991). In *Lawrence v. State*, 691 So. 2d 1068, 1073 (Fla. 1997), this Court held that the State failed to show "unavailability" under almost identical circumstances. In *Lawrence*, the investigator made contact with the witness who agreed to appear, then didn't. This Court faulted the State for failing to obtain a subpoena. The witness had been camping in a state park. This Court held that the State's efforts were not sufficient to establish unavailability under section 90.804(1), Florida Statutes.

In any case, the only section that Appellant argued was not hearsay, and thus the only issue that is preserved on appeal was the statement that Privett cut Robin (TT2378). Appellant argues that Pratt's knowledge of the manner of death was not hearsay and not admitted to show the truth of the matter asserted. Instead, the statement showed Pratt knew the manner of death before it was released to the public. (Initial Brief at 26). Even if this statement was not hearsay, it was not relevant. §90.801.2 Fla. Stat. Pratt was a friend of Privett for five years. He was not interviewed until July 23, a day after the murders. Even though the newspaper did not publish the manner of death, it is certainly knowledge that people in the immediate community would know.

**B. Statement against penal interest.** The trial judge allowed the inculpatory portions of Pratt's statement. There were many sections defense counsel did not ask to be admitted. Now, appellate counsel argues the entire statement should have been admitted. This issue is not preserved except to the extent trial counsel objected. The only portions Reynolds now argues were pertinent are that Pratt knew the manner of death before the public and that Pratt tried to create an alibi. (Initial Brief at 29). Whether Pratt was with Nicole Edwards was subject to dispute (TT2593, 2598). Nicole told Inv. Parker that Pratt was with her from 2:00 a.m. to 7:00 a.m. Brenda Keck said she saw Nicole and Pratt at 7:00 a.m. So whether Pratt said he was with Nicole is not inculpatory unless there was some proof he was not with Nicole. The statement regarding manner of death is likewise not inculpatory because there is no proof everyone in the neighborhood didn't know how the victims were killed.

Appellant cites *Voorhees v. State*, 699 So. 2d 602 (Fla. 1997), for the proposition that Pratt's statements were admissible. In *Voorhees*, the codefendant admitted to killing the victim. This was certainly relevant, exculpated Voorhees, and met the test for corroboration because the evidence supported the statement. It was clearly a statement against interest. Pratt's statement was not. The other case cited by Reynolds, *Carpenter v. State*, 785 So. 2d 1182 (Fla. 2001), does

not support his argument. In *Carpenter*, this Court stated that: "Importantly, the State's theory in both *Voorhees* and *Sager*, as in the present case, included a charge that both defendants were involved in the murder." *Carpenter*, at 1203. In *Carpenter*, the co-defendant made inculpatory statements. These cases are distinguishable from the present case in which there is nothing to indicate Pratt was involved in the murders.

In *Sims v. State*, 754 So. 2d 657, 661 (Fla. 2000), this Court held there was no error in prohibiting a third-party statement where there was no indicia of trustworthiness. There must be other evidence to corroborate the statement. Here there was not. Furthermore, only the statements which are individually self-incriminatory should be admitted under the statement-against-interest exception. *Brooks v. State*, 787 So. 2d 765, 775 (Fla. 2001). The trial judge did not abuse his discretion in allowing the statements regarding late payments on the trailer and the threatening note. These statements incriminated Pratt. The portions the trial judge disallowed were not relevant to any issue, did not incriminate Pratt, and were not admissible.

**C. Due Process.** Reynolds did not argue a constitutional due process or fair trial violation at the trial level and this argument is not preserved. Neither did he argue the "rule of completeness." Appellant cites *Curtis v. State*, 876 So. 2d 13

(Fla. 1st DCA 2004) and *Neiner v. State*, 875 So. 2d 699 (Fla. 4th DCA 2004) as authority. In both cases, another person confessed to the crime. The courts held this evidence was admissible as a matter of due process. In *Curtis*, the declarant had been identified by the victim's husband, and he confessed; however, he was acquitted at trial. The jurors were told the declarant had been charged, but that he was acquitted. The jury was not told the declarant confessed to the crime. Under these circumstances, it was a due process violation not to admit the confession. However, this case is a far cry from the present case in which there is nothing to tie Pratt to the murders. *Neiner* is likewise distinguishable. In *Neiner*, the defendant in a drug possession case was precluded from admitting evidence that she could not obtain a copy of her prescription for the drug because the pharmacy destroyed its records. This is completely dissimilar to the present case. Reynolds was not denied a fair trial.

Error, if any, was harmless. See *State v. DiGuilio*, 491 So. 2d 1129, 1135 (Fla. 1986). The police searched Pratt's house and found nothing. He was investigated and eliminated as a suspect. Further, Reynolds' DNA was all over the crime scene, a place Reynolds denied ever visiting. Reynolds had a score to settle and lived nearby. Privett was seen sitting on Reynolds' car at 11:00 p.m. The murders occurred between 11:00 p.m. and

7:00 a.m. Reynolds was seen washing clothes at 5:30 a.m. and went to the hospital with suspicious injuries. Pointing the finger at Justin Pratt was simply a smokescreen to create reasonable doubt. The jury was aware of Pratt's motive and threat; however, the evidence all pointed to Reynolds.

**POINT II.**

**THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ERR IN DENYING THE MOTIONS FOR JUDGMENT OF ACQUITTAL**

Appellant argues there was insufficient evidence to support any of the convictions. He argues there was insufficient evidence of burglary to support a felony murder conviction, and the circumstantial evidence which was presented was insufficient on all counts. Appellant claims the conviction was based solely on faulty DNA evidence and a botched investigation (Initial Brief at 39). Appellant argues that packaging the pink pillow together with a blue towel caused cross-contamination.

Several witnesses testified, and a photographs showed, that the pink pillow and blue towel were lying together at the crime scene where there was extensive blood, so there was no concern that the items were packaged together (TT1031, 1716). Reynolds argues that sweepings from the pillow and towel were contaminated due to the procedure. The procedure for sanitizing between sweepings was explained (TT1486-87). There was no showing of evidence tampering. The trial judge held a lengthy

*Frye* hearing on the Motion(s) to Exclude DNA Testing (R75-76, 442-443; TT 3038.1-3065, 3066-3322, 3323-3383, 3384-3436, SR139-177). The *Frye* hearing took place on July 18, August 2, September 19, and 27, and October 9, 2002. The motion to exclude DNA evidence was denied (R514-515). Appellant also filed a motion requesting the State be prevented from cross-examining the defense expert who conducted only chemical testing and no DNA testing (R494-496). The State had released evidence to the defense expert for testing (R497). Yet the defense presented no evidence to dispute the DNA testing done by FDLE. The portions cited as fact by Appellant are from cross-examination and were explained by the experts on direct and re-direct.

Appellant alleges that none of the DNA matched and that, even though he supposedly cut his hand at the crime scene, his blood was not found at the scene (Initial Brief at 40). Both David Baer and Charles Badger testified regarding DNA results. David Baer performed RFLP testing and Charles Badger performed STR testing. David Baer's test results were within the accepted margin of error (TT1806, 1870). If there was not concordance between the first and second sizer, the testers would re-examine the results. If they could not agree on the results, then the item was re-tested (TT1865). Before a result is released, there must be agreement (TT1865). Any second sizing done by John Fitzpatrick was re-done (TT2188). Harry Hopkins, the DNA unit

supervisor, was the third sizer (TT2194). Furthermore, Appellant claims he is innocent because none of the victims' blood was found on the defendant, on his clothing, or in his car; that there were no footprints, and hair in Robin Reynolds' hand did not match Appellant. Although Reynolds argues that hair was clutched in Robin's hand and could only be from the killer, the testimony was that the hair was stuck to her hand by the blood, not "clutched" (TT1033,1131). In any case, the identifiable hair was Robin's or from an animal (TT1532, 2046, 2054-65). In fact, all except four hairs examined matched one of the victims (TT1534). The only reason testing was not done on all items was because of limited resources (TT2033). Because there was so much evidence, the State had to prioritize which items to test (TT1028).

Appellant argues that since none of his blood was found on the victims, he couldn't be the killer. Reynolds' blood was all over the murder scene. Whether he happened to drip blood on the victims is immaterial when the State presented seven locations containing Reynolds' DNA, many of the locations including a mixture of Reynolds and victim's blood. The fact that none of the victim's blood was found on the defendant or his clothing is not remarkable. Reynolds lived nearby and did not need to drive his car to the murder scene. Further, he washed his clothing and removed any evidence.

In any case, Appellant did not make any of the above arguments at the trial level. The entire motion for judgment of acquittal was:

Judge, at this time we, on behalf of Mr. Reynolds, the defendant, would ask the Court for a judgment of acquittal as to each of the counts and basically we're essentially alleging at this point in time that they have failed to prove that Michael Reynolds has committed any crime.

(TT2331). When the motion was renewed, the entire argument was:

Your Honor, at this time, the Defense would renew its motion for judgment of acquittal on the same basis and the same grounds as previously stated.

(TT2732). The grounds now argued on appeal were not raised in the trial court; therefore, this issue is not properly preserved. As this Court stated in *Stephens v. State*, 787 So. 2d 747, 753 (Fla. 2001):

This claim was not preserved for appeal because Stephens' counsel made a bare bones motion for judgment of acquittal, without any specific argument. In *Woods v. State*, 733 So. 2d 980 (Fla. 1999), this Court held the claim of improper denial of a motion for judgment of acquittal had not been preserved for appeal by a boilerplate motion without specific grounds.

We said:

To preserve an argument for appeal, it must be asserted as the legal ground for the objection, exception, or motion below. See *Archer v. State*, 613 So. 2d 446, 448 (Fla. 1993); *Steinhorst v. State*, 412 So. 2d 332, 338 (Fla.

1982). Florida Rule of Criminal Procedure 3.380 requires that a motion for judgment of acquittal "fully set forth the grounds on which it is based." See Fla.R.Crim.Pro. 3.380(b) (emphasis added). Here, Woods submitted a boilerplate motion for acquittal without fully setting forth the specific grounds upon which the motion was based. He did not bring to the attention of the trial court any of the specific grounds he now urges this Court to consider.

*Id.* at 984. See also *Geralds v. State*, 674 So. 2d 96 (Fla. 1996) (holding two claims of unconstitutionality of jury instructions pertaining to death penalty proceedings procedurally barred because counsel failed to object with specificity); *Marquard v. State*, 641 So. 2d 54 (Fla. 1994) (finding a particular argument not preserved as to the trial court's denial of motion for judgment of acquittal on murder charge); *Patterson v. State*, 391 So. 2d 344 (Fla. 5th DCA 1980) (holding a bare bones motion for directed verdict will not permit a defendant to raise every possible claimed insufficiency in the evidence); *De La Cova v. State*, 355 So. 2d 1227 (Fla. 3d DCA 1978) (finding a bare bones motion for directed verdict does not raise every possible claimed insufficiency in the evidence).

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